
EXHIBIT K 

Meeting at Malden Mayor Howard’s Office – Sept. 16, 1999 –  

Admission of Fault & Commitments to repair drainage system 

On September 16, 1999, a meeting took place at the Malden Government Center – in the 
Mayor’s Office. 

The meeting was coordinated by state representative Christopher Fallon at the request of 
the Hanover Street Coalition.  The meeting was called to determine the cause of the 
floods on Hanover Street and whether the city or the state would repair the problem. 
 
Mayor Richard Howard, chief engineer Jack Russell, city engineer Jack Kelly and 
councilman Stephen Finn represented the city. 
 
Representative Fallon invited representatives from Mass. Emergency Management 
Administration, Metropolitan District Commission, MassHighway and more to represent 
the state. 
 
Zed McLarnon was invited as the sole representative of the Hanover Street Coalition.  
McLarnon was instructed to come alone.  McLarnon was assaulted by Stephen Finn. 
McLarnon did not respond as he was there to represent the entire coalition and therefore 
was not ejected.  McLarnon witnessed the following to which he has attested in legal 
proceedings and affidavits: 
 
During the meeting city engineer Jack Kelly and city councilman Stephen Finn gave an 
explanation as to why the floods were occurring.  They cited problems on Eastern 
Avenue and that the drainages systems of several streets to the East of Hanover Street 
had been added to drain into Hanover Street’s drainage system.  They concluded that 
Hanover Street’s drainage system was over burdened by both factors - and the city 
had sole jurisdiction over the flooding problems.  They then allowed the state 
representatives to leave and carried on the meeting between McLarnon and the city 
representatives. 
 
Mayor Howard and councilman Finn made a commitment to repair the faulty drainage 
system during the 2000 construction season (April – November).  Mayor Howard stated 
that he had the money to make the repairs.  Jack Kelly was appointed as a consultant to 
supervise the planning and repair of the drainage system. 
 
To date, nothing has been done to repair the faulty drainage system.  
 
See Exhibit L “Newspaper Articles” containing quotes by city officials following the 
9.16.99 meeting and several other articles following the flooding from yhear to year and 
documenting the fraudulent claims by city and state officials. 
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Exhibit L 
 

Newspaper Articles 
 

The following Newspaper Articles chronicle the flooding of Hanover Street 
and the quotes of city and state officials from 1999 when they admitted fault 

and committed to repair drainage system - through floods in August 2008 
 
 
The 1999 articles contain  

- the admissions that the city is the party to repair the drainage system and 
commitments of city officials to repair Hanover Street’s drainage system 

- Hanover Street homeowners obtaining a real estate rebate as a result of the city 
admitting they were the fault of the floods 

- The documentation of floods over the years  
- The quotes of city officials that counter their admissions and commitments to 

repair the drainage system  
- To their utter abandonment of any type of help in the near future. 

 
FACTS:   The floods have occurred since 1994.   

They still have not formulated a plan to cure the problem?  The cover-up of 
Thier fraud to cover up the fraudulent drainage system maps and “penciled-in 
pipe” still continues.   

Motive:  Their “new plan? - Hide the repair of the drainage system by developing South  
    Broadway and installing a pipe from Hanover Street to South Broadway  
   Park (See August 1, 2008 Malden Observer). 
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EXHIBIT M 
 

State rep Fallon and councilman Finn Violate Subpoenas to Testify 
Deposition used to Corroborate Malden’s Commitment to Repair Drainage System 

 
FALLON DEPOSITION - Notes & Deposition Photocopies 

On August 5, 2004, state representative Christopher Fallon and city councilman 
Stephen Finn violated subpoenas ordering them to appear and testify at trial 
regarding what they witnessed at the meeting of September 16, 1999 in the 
Mayor’s Office: specifically the fact that Malden took responsibility form the repair 
of the drainage system.   
The following is the testimony of Christopher Fallon from a deposition  
Pg. 9\Ln.1-9 – “Met with city engineer Jack Kelly.” 

“Defective piping along Eastern Ave. (Rt. 60)” 
Pg. 10/Ln. 1-10  Establishes the meeting was called “to establish what was the cause of  

the flooding and how we are going to rectify it.” 
Pg. 11/Ln. 4 – 24  Meeting “held at Mayor’s Office.” 
 “…..here we were discussing a problem of flooding in Hanover Street Malden.” 
 Fallon identifies some state agencies and personnel that attended. 
Pg. 12/Ln. 1 – 24   Identifies more state agencies and personnel. 

Corroborated that Jack Kelly, Jack Russell and Stephen Finn was there. 
Pg. 14/Ln. 11 – 24  “What’e causing this problem and how are we going to rectify it.” 
 “there was an issue with the way the pipes were laid decades ago along Eastern  

Avenue..”  
“an issue about their elevation not being correct.” 

Pg. 16/Ln. 1 – 9 “my clear and unambiguous conclusion from that meeting was that the  
state had no liability.”   
“this was a problem on the city level and I had no further involvement in the  
process.” 

Pg. 17/Ln. 21 –24  Q: “So was it a concensus both between the state representatives at the  
meeting from these three agencies and the two  

Pg. 18  city engineers that you said were at the meeting that it was indeed the city that  
was responsible for whatever fix was going to ultimately happen on Hanover  
Street?” 
A:  “Not only was it my understanding, but there was a statement made by  
somebody from the city that this is a city problem.”  

Pg. 20/Ln. 13 – 24  McLarnon asked for him to call the Army Corps of Engineers. 
Pg. 22/Ln. 18  Q:  “Was the commitment that you felt that the city people made to study  
 it or to fix it?” 

A:  “Both.”   

Pg. 25/Ln. 4  “the feeling of confidence that I had leaving that meeting that the city 
was going to earnestly try to do what it could to resolve the problem.” 
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EXHIBIT N 
 

Superior Court Trial Sidebar Conference  
RE: Fallon and Finn’s Violation of Subpoenas 

 
Attorney Hession informs judge of the commitments they heard City officials, of 

which Finn was one, who admitted Malden drainages system was at fault and 
committed to repair the drainages system in the 2000 construction year. 

 
Fallon and Finns Subpoenas 
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EXHIBIT O  
 

2000 Tax Rebate 
 
The City of Malden gave the homeowners on Hanover Street a real estate tax 

abatement for the year 2000.  This was done as part of their admission in 
September 1999 that they were the agency responsible for causing the floods 

on Hanover Street. 
 

The following Testimony of state representative Chris Fallon states he 
requested the city give the homeowners on Hanover Street a real estate tax 
abatement for causing the floods  
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EXHIBIT P 

 
Perjury by Mayor Richard Howard and chief 

engineer Jack Russell 
 

For Transcripts see DVD folder TESTIMONY  
 

The Transcript Notes that follow identify perjury of chief city engineer Jack 
Russell and Mayor Richard Howard. 

Their testimony (marked as perjury in RED ) counters Jack Kelly’s 
testimony, Russell Geisser’s testimony and their own quotes in Malden 
newspapers (See Criminal Complaint EXHIBIT G) and the testimony of 

eyewitnesses Michael Santangelo and complainant McLarnon 
 

The authentic drainage system maps also counter the perjured 
testimony of Mayor Howard, Jack Russell and their attorney Ed 

Wheeler’s fraud upon the court. 
 

Attorney Wheeler witnessed all depositions, trial testimony and exhibits.  
Therefore, his clients have the same information. 
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MALDEN TRANSCRIPTS NOTES 
August 3, 2004 Proceedings 

Pg. 50 – Opening by Wheeler  
Wheeler says the pipe from Hanover “spills into the Town Line Brook.”    
(FRAUD UPON COURT  - The city’s own engineers Jack Russell and Jack  
Kelly testified that it doesn’t in their depositions (witnessed by Wheeler) and  
again during the trial.  Wheeler was at the depositions and his office is right next  
to the engineer’s office at Malden government center).   
“Towards Lynn and out to the sea…” 
“City of Malden has done everything in its power to fix the problem.”  
 See Newspaper Quotes committing to install pipes, etc. none of which were done.   
Jack Kelly, Jack Russell and Richard Howard testified they have done nothing! 

AUGUST 5, 2004 - Thursday 
Mayor Howard - Direct by Hession 
Pg. 26 – ln. 14 – 24 – Remembered letters & meeting of Sept. 16, 1999 “very well”. 

Pg. 27/ - After saying he remembered the Sept. 19, 1999 “very well,”  
    Howard said “several members of the street.” [McLarnon was instructed to  
come alone and then assaulted by Finn when he arrived by himself]. 

Pg. 28/ln. 6 – No decision/says there was no decision made at the meeting.  Global  
decision that the problem lay with the sea wall.    Perjury, Perjury, Perjury!! ! 
(See Newspaper article quotes by city officials after the 9.16.99 meeting at 
Mayor Howard’s Office, See=e Rep. Fallon’s deposition, See Jack Kelly 
testimony,  
 

Pg. 30 ln. 15 –“Kelly said there were no defects in the system – that everything was  
unobstructed and running.” (Perjury!  See Jack Kelly’s testimony “city is  
responsible!”  This statement means the map with the penciled-in pipe is  
fraudulent as the mayor testified is unobstructed and functioning properly. 

       ln. 8 – 15 – Pipe “Runs from Hanover St. to ocean.”  -  [Perjury!  See Testimony  
of his own engineers Jack Kelly and Jack Russell – as well as Russell  
Geisser’s testimony). 

Pg. 32/ln. 12 – Atty. Hession gets on the record that Finn was quoted by Malden  
Observer as saying ”It is the city’s responsibility to correct the flooding  
problems on Hanover Street and surrounding areas”.     

            Ln. 1`6 – “I believe Mr. Finn would have said that.” 
 Lns. 19 –24  Malden “is responsible to fix the system if there is a problem.”   

(Howard quote in newspaper (See quotes from newspaper articles). 
Pg. 24 – Howard quote from Malden Observer Septr.1999  “After the engineering  

analysis, the city would work on correcting the problem.” 
Ln. 7 – 9 “if there was a problem it should  -- and it existed within our system  
it should be corrected. Yes.” 

Pg. 34/ln. 21 – 24 – November 4, 1999 Malden Observer quote; “Mayor Howard  
said once the engineering analysis is completed, the city will work on  
correcting the problem.” [This is in contrast to Howard’s perjury above and on  
pgs. 30 – 33 of transcript].                                                                                                                    
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Pg. 36/ln. 4 – 7  [Howard states the  “sea-wall as part of the problem”. Perjury – see  
Jack Kelly’s testimony and the quotes from Stephen Finn and Jack Russell in  
newspaper and Jack Ruusell’s testimony upcoming on Friday August 6th 
ln. 11 – 17  “yeah, I think to – to help with any significant degree to increase  
the capacity of this storm drain system, it would be a major public works  
project.   Involving not only the City of Malden but, downstream cities and  
towns as well.” [Perjury Perjury]  – Jack Kelly and Jack Russell’s upcoming  
testimony clearly indicates that Malden alone vis a vis replacing the the  
“penciled-in pipe” can make the repairs.                                     

Pg. 37 – “I wouldn’t characterize it as a problem, merely concerns.”  THREE  
DOZEN FLOODS SEVERAL OF WHICH WERE  3 – 3.5 FEET OF  
POLLUTED WATER IN OUR HOUSES –is  a mere concermn??? 

Pg. 41 – “There were no plans prepared for any construction on Hanover Street or  
the surrounding area “I did not believe within our city  limits that it needed, a  
quote, fix.”  

 “No plans drawn up.” PERJURY – Fay, Spoffard Thorndyke drew up plans  
to repair Hanover Street.  These reports are included in KELLY REPORTS  
(in REPORTS Folder) 

 “Nothing we could do.” [Perjury].  This counters the testimony of all three  
engineers and Malden’s own consultants Fay Spoffard Thorndyke 

Pg. 42 – ln. 23 There was nothing we could do individually to change how the system  
works.” [Perjury]. 

John Kelly Direct by Hession 
P. 54 – “Witnessed flooding on Hanover Street in 1998 & 99” 
p. 55 – “Witnessed several floods.” (See “no problem” remark by Howard)  
p. 58 – Hanover Street is not in a flood zone.   
p. 59 – Hanover Street is not in a hundred year flood zone. 
p. 60 – “That’s correct, not in a hundred year rainstorm”.  (This testimony  

completely undermines the testimony of the meteorologist as irrelevant upon  
which the Directed Verdict was based.) 

Pg. 61 – Q:  Who is responsible the state or the city?   
  A: “The city.”  (This testimony by the city’s own engineer of 35 years  

admits the city is responsible as he did in the meeting of 9.16.99 
 Q:  Up to the state canal is the city responsible?  

A:  “Yes.” 
p.64 –  “went to Jack Russell w/Fay Spoffard report.  Russell did nothing”  (This  

contradicts both Russell and Howard’s testimony. 
AUGUST 6, 2004   Friday 

RUSSELL, JACK   DIRECT by Hession 
Pg. 31 – “Director of Engineering, Planning & Water Works for Malden for the last four  

years.  Before that, Director of Engineering for Malden Redevelopment Authority  
(“MRA”) .”  (When I initiated as tort complaint against the city for Nuisance  
and Neglect, for allowing the floods, Mayor Howard appointed Jack Russell 
from the MRA chief engineer of the City of Malden – While at the MRA, 
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Russell had used fraudulent drainage system maps to overdevelop our area 
of Malden. 

Pg. 32 – In charge of all engineering for 20 yrs. re: infrastructure projects, building  
projects that went through MRA.   Became aware of flooding on Hanover St. in  
1999.   He said he wasn’t aware of flooding previous to 1999.  (How possible?   
Practically every one on street complained individually to him and the 
engineering department starting in 1994.)   
20 yrs w/MRA + 5 yrs w/Malden. 

p. 33 – Russell testifies he became aware of the flooding problem in Sept. 23, 1999.   
Hurricane Floyd. He had been called by Hanover Street residents in 1996 –  
1999. We wrote to him, and he attended the meeting in the Mayor’s office  
on Sept. 16, 1999 and gave the quotes to the Malden Observer on Sept. 21, 
1999.  Russell is claiming he wasn’t aware until he received our Hanover 
Street Coalition letter. 
p. 34 – Russell - Said he didn’t see Malden Observer articles quoting him.   
Then admits that he had.   Remembered being quoted in Malden Observer as  
saying there were a couple of “design issues we’re going to look into.”   
Russell:  “In other words, the placement of catch basins, whether or not they’re  
located properly.   

p. 35 – Remembers saying to Malden Observer – “a two-fold problem”  
quote – admits: “a hydraulically deficient system.  Some new pipes will have  
to be installed.” [proximal cause]. (Neglected to install them to this day).   
“Some other issues regarding water draining into backyards (an admission  
of proximal cause by Water Works – city has since ordered Water Works to  
repair their drainage system?) 

p. 36 – “While each point in the drainage sequence should be slightly higher that the  
one that follows it, this may not be the case…” [proximal cause] 
“Also, Russell noted, drain pipes on and around Hanover St. may be  
improperly sized (*No other city involved! 

Pg. 37 – “Pipes are improperly sized,"  
“Hydraulic problems.”  “Pipes do not follow hydraul ic formulas.” * No other 
city involved! 

p. 39 – Fay Spoffard came up with several scenarios to fix problem.  Fay Spoffard made  
 some $ quotes to repairs. * Their suggestions had nothing to do with any other  

city! 
p. 41 –“Yes, I maintain all records of sewage and drainage plans.  

(McLarnon took pictures that showed inaccuracies and deficiencies of blueprints.   
Dereliction of duty?) 
“There is a way to fix Hanover Street’s problem but City of Malden cannot  
do it alone. (PERJURY!) (PERJURY!) (PERJURY!)  
Russell admits he “has not contacted or spoken to any state or federal office  
for help.” (Neglect).  The repair is completely in Malden jurisdiction.  See  
Kelly and Geisser testimony. 

P. 47 – Pipes – “the bottom of Hanover Street’s pipes the invert is about the same level as  
the bottom of the canal.  When pipes were installed, they were not elevated so  
that gravity would operate in a downward slope to the canal.” Here he  
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admits it was an installation problem . NO OTHER CITY INVOLVED!  
Pg. 48 – “I’d have to lower the entire Town Line Brook Canal to allow Hanover  

Street to drain into it.” (what about a pump???).   
END OF DIRECT 

Pg. 50 ---As a result – he inspected our drainage system for obstructions.   
The system was clean.  Above he says pipes fall elow level of canal – how can  
they be clear? 
Russell admits “Hanover Street does not meet the design criteria of a ten-
year storm.” (Proximal Cause) Violates state codes. 

Pg. 52 – “The pipes coming into it (Town Line Brook) can’t discharge and they  
back up.”  How can a pipe that backs up be clear as he testified above? 

Pg. 53 – “Then the pipes back up.”  “The pipes were designed to only hold water  
until the water in the canal recedes.   NEGLECT -  (Failure to provide an  
adequate drainage system?)P 

pg. 55 – Q: City of Malden can’t do anything alone?   
A: No.   (PERJURY!  PERJURY!) 
Russell’s perjury counters Jack Kelly’s testimony, Russell Geisser’s testimony  
and the quotes of city officials, Stephen Finn and Mayor Howard himself. What 
about pumps?  Also counters the Fay, Spoffard Thorndyke reports  
(They could design and build a drainage system that works.  They designed and  
installed a drainage system that doesn’t work.  This is proximal cause and Neglect  
to correct this faulty drainage system. 

Hession Re-Direct of Jack Russell- 
Pg. 56 – Russell suggested “redirecting Kannard St. to Maplewood because the pipes                    
were bigger and could hold more capacity.”  Acknowledges problem by offering a 
solution (But did not do it - Neglect). 

“Drainage system is merely a holding tank because it can’t drain into Canal”  
Russell acknowledges that Mr. McLarnon’s basement “becomes a  
holding-tank for the city drainage system.” (Nuisance). 

Pg. 57 – Forced to admit there “was a lot of water on Hanover Street.” 
 
Sidebar regarding violation of subpoenas by Christopher Fallon and Stephen Finn.  
Their testimony would have countered Mayor Howard and Jack Russell’s perjury.  
Attorney Hession testified to the judge as to the substance of their depositions as follows 
(See Fallon Deposition above). 
p. 71 – Judge – “What will we hear from Fallon that we haven’ heard already from the  
 Mayor and engineers.” 

Hession – “we will hear that the city made promises to repair the problem”  
Judge – “They had made promises to repair the problem as it was their  
responsibility?”   

 Hession: “Yes,”   (Hession’s answer is based on his depositions of both Fallon and  
Finn, Malden Observer quotes from Finn and Jack Russell – and Fallon and 
Finn’s epositions, the Ma   

p. 76 – The testimony of Mr. Fallon and Mr. Finn “are critical to the point that the  
 city had made some firm commitments to fix this problem." 
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EXHIBIT R 
Motion to Recuse Judge Zobel 

& 
Motion for Special Relief to Review Newly Acquired Evidence 

 
The defendants “failed to plead or defend” against this motion the evidence of which 
proves - using three newly acquired authentic maps (See Exhibits B & C) - that the 

map the defendants stole from the Exhibits of Superior Court and McLarnon was the 
authentic map - and the map the defendants submitted to the court with “penciled-in 

pipe” from Hanover Street to the state canal is a fraud. 
 

Their failure to counter the evidence leaves the authentic “newly acquired maps” 
with NO PIPE to the state canal – the cause of the floods – as the undisputed 

authentic maps. 
 

Defendants submitted this fraudulent map with “penciled-in pipe” to the EPA and 
MassDEP along with MP4 permit applications (see Exhibit J) to fraudulently obtain 

permits from both agencies. 
 

They knew when they developed they were overburdening our drainage system that 
hit the critical point in 1994 and sincve then every heavy shower of 15 minutes or 

more causes a flood – the longer the rain the deeper the floods in our houses. 
 

Why hasn’t Malden fixed a simple flooding problem?  To cover up the fraud upon 
City, state and federal governments – and taxpayers via the plundering of state and 

federal grants. 
 

· SEE EXHIBITS B & C FOR AUTHENTIC MAPS  

· SEE EXHIBIT I – FOR DISCREDITED MAP WITH 

‘PENCILED-IN PIPE’ FROM HANOVER STREET TO THE 

STATE CANAL  
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
 

FIRST DISTRICT                     BOSTON, MASSACHUSETTS 
 

----------------------------------------------------------------- 
EDWARD S. MCLARNON,    ) 
 Plaintiff     ) 
      ) 
Vs.      )                     Case # 06 CA 11815 RWZ 
      ) 
HERMAN SMITH ,  et al   ) 
 Defendants                    ) 
 

MOTION FOR RECUSAL OR DISQUALIFICATION OF JUDGE ZOB EL 

 

 Plaintiff submitted a Judicial Misconduct Complaint against Judge Rya Zobel after   

Chief Judge Mark Wolf’s ruling of Dec. 12, 2007 in which he referred plaintiff to the Judicial  

Misconduct Committee regarding allegations of judicial misconduct by Judge Zobel.  The  

Judicial Misconduct Complaint is currently pending.   

 The complaint’s allegations against Judge Zobel include violations of U.S. Criminal  

Codes for altering the case docket Item #7 and transcript of the Status Hearing (government  

documents), and after plaintiff submitted irrefutable evidence of US Postal Service 

documentation attached to his Motion to End Corruption and Correct Docket and again attached 

also to his Motion for Special Relief to Judge Wolf proving that docket Item #7 was not a correct  

docket entry, Judge Zobel and clerk Jay Johnson refused to correct the entry.  Judge Zobel 

knowingly used the fraudulent entry to dismiss plaintiff’s case against Malden defendants.in her 

Memorandum of Decision. 

 Judge Zobel was given three legal opportunities via the Affidavit of Truth (Exhibit 1 of  

the accompanying Motion for Special Relief ) to provide evidence to the notary public to counter  

the truthful statements that she conspired with defendants to cover up their criminal conspiracy in  

the underlying case and their fraud upon the court in the instant case.  Judge Zobel’s admissions  

that she conspired with the defendants’ criminal acts to deprive plaintiff of his constitutional  

rights are consistent with the state-actor defendants “admissions” pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. Rule  

8(d) that they conspired with the other defendants in under color of law in state courts in the  

underlying case. 

 Judge Zobel also provided no evidence to counter the Affidavit of Truth’s truthful 

statements that she conspired with her then husband (now ex-husband), Hiller B. Zobel including 

statement “The court records have been criminally altered in the underlying case, the instant case  

and the case involving Judge Zobel’s husband, Hiller B. Zobel.” 
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 Judge Zobel did not provide any evidence to counter the fact that she held ex-parte  

communications with other judges and used fraudulent and prejudicial statements such as “you’re  

no novice” when plaintiff was requesting legal representation.  Judge Zobel could provide no  

evidence to counter the Affidavit of Truth’s statements of fact regarding her violations of U.S.  

Codes, Court Rules, the Fed. Rules of Civil Procedure, Judicial Canons and her oath of office –  

and the fact that she openly mocked the Constitution, the rule of law, court rules, Judicial Canons  

and her oath of office from the bench in from of plaintiff and five eyewitnesses who provided  

affidavits quoting her anti-American outbursts – some of which are now missing from the  

transcript of the Status Hearing (See Exhibit 5 regarding altered transcript). Judge Zobel 

deprived plaintiff of his constitutional rights under Amendments IV, V, VI and VII to 

have access to the courts to protect his property and business from continuing floods 

caused by Malden defendants.  Another flood occurred in April 2008.  This “public safety 

issue” was allowed to occur by Judge Zobel in violation of her constutional oath “to 

promote the General Welfare.”  

Motion for Recusal or Disqualification 

 For the facts cited above and in Plaintiff’s complaint and “crimes against the U.S.  

Government” - as defined by the U.S. Supreme Court - contained in plaintiff’s Motion to End  

Corruption and Correct Docket, Motion for Special Relief and plaintiff’s Judicial Misconduct  

Complaint, and pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. Rule 63 “Inability of judge to proceed,” human decency  

and reason, plaintiff pleads for Judge Zobel to recuse herself from the case and/or for Chief Judge 

Wente to disqualify Judge Zobel from hearing this case and put to an end end the criminal acts  

that have usurped the judicial process and denied plaintiff justice for more than a year and a half.   

 
Submitted June 27, 2008 by   

 
 
Edward S McLarnon 
Pro se litigant 
49 Hanover Street  
Malden, MA 02148  
781 324 1989 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
 

FIRST DISTRICT                     BOSTON, MASSACHUSETTS 
 
----------------------------------------------------------------- 
EDWARD S. MCLARNON,    ) 
 Plaintiff     ) 
      ) 
Vs.      )                     Case # 06 CA 11815 RWZ 
      ) 
HERMAN SMITH ,  et al   ) 
 Defendants                    ) 
 
MOTION FOR SPECIAL RELIEF TO CONSIDER “NEWLY ACQUIR ED EVIDENCE” 

AND CORRECT THE COURT RECORD 
 

COMES NOW plaintiff, Edward S. McLarnon, aka “Zed,” a flesh and blood citizen of  

the United States of America and not a corporate juristic entity or being.  Plaintiff relinquishes 

not one of his constitutional rights to procedure, judicial rulings or legislative jurisdiction that 

conflicts with the Constitution.  Plaintiff is a reluctant pro se litigant as Judge Zobel denied his 

request for legal representation and requests the court interpret all motions reasonably and 

liberally, pursuant to “Haines vs. Kerner” 404 USC 519, 520-21.   

  

 Pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. Rule 9, Pleading Special Matters, and Rule 9(b) “Fraud, 

Mistake, Condition of Mind, Malice” and Judicial Canons 1, 2 & 3(B)(5) plaintiff pleads 

this court review the attached “newly acquired evidence.” Pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. Rule 59 

“New trial – amendment of judgment” plaintiff pleads the Court re-open the case after reviewing 

the attached “newly acquired evidence. 

 

Plaintiff hereby incorporates into this motion his Motion to End Corruption and Correct 

Docket, Motion for Special Relief that was submitted to Chief Judge Wolf that resulted in Judge 

Wolf’s referral to the Chief Judge of the First Circuit regarding plaintiff’s complaints of judicial 

misconduct, and plaintiff’s Motion for Injunction to compel Malden to repair its faulty drainage 

system to operate as they depicted in their fraudulent drainage system map with a “penciled-in 

pipe” from plaintiff’s street to the state canal that is depicted as operating correctly.  Please be so 

kind as to gather those motions with the attached Exhibits as plaintiff is proceeding “in forma 

pauperis” and does not have the resources to keep printing and submitting the same irrefutable 

documentation over and over again.  The attached “newly acquired evidence” corroborates and 

supports the evidence that plaintiff submitted earlier, but was ignored by Judge Zobel who 
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abandoned her mandate as a fact-finder and dismissed plaintiff’s motions based on a criminally 

altered docket.  

This case is a simple to understand – defendants participated in a criminal conspiracy in 

state courts and violated plaintiff’s protected civil rights, , 42 U.S.C. §1983 Civil Rights, 42 

USC § 1985 Conspiracy Civil Rights.  The state-actor Defendants made an admission to this 

effect by “failing to plead or defend against plaintiff’s complaint” and pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. 

Rule 8(d) have admitted to the allegations in plaintiff’s complaint, they participated in a criminal 

conspiracy with the remaining defendants in state court.  The remaining defendants came to the 

instant case with not one piece of evidence to demonstrate the Directed Verdict in the underlying 

case was warranted and they have presented not one piece of evidence to demonstrate plaintiff  

“could not possibly prevail at trial” – the Malden Defendants and Judge Zobel altered the case 

docket and transcript to cover up their criminal conspiracy in the underlying and instant cases in 

violation of and 93 USC § 1909 Obstruction by Public Officers. 

.RELEVENT BACKGROUND FACTS 

As a result of plaintiff’s Motion for Special Relief, Chief Judge Wolf referred plaintiff’s 

documentation proving judicial misconduct to First Circuit Chief Judge Wente.  Plaintiff recently 

submitted a judicial misconduct complaint, and has submitted a Motion for Recusal or  

Disqualification of Judge Zobel as she is the subject of plaintiff’s judicial misconduct complaint.   

 

I  - REVIEW OF “NEWLY ACQUIRED EVIDENCE” 

 Plaintiff pleads to the Court for special relief pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. Rule 9, “Pleading  

Special Matters” to review the “newly acquired evidence” that supports and corroborates the  

evidence attached to plaintiff’s previous motions that have been completely ignored by Judge 

Zobel in favor of rulings knowingly based on a criminally altered court record – altered to usurp  

the judicial process and deny plaintiff justice. 

Exhibit 1 of this motion is a notarized Affidavit of Truth to two U.S. District Court  

Judges and four clerks (“Respondents”) that had three legal opportunities to provide the notary  

public with evidence to counter the statements of truth that are based on physical, documentary  

and testimonial evidence and are not misleading. . None could do so.   

 Exhibit 2 of this motion is the City of Malden Drainage System Map that defendants  

stole from the Exhibits of Superior Court where plaintiff had submitted it for use at trial.  As  

stated in plaintiff’s complaint and motions, the defendants met in a secret meeting with plaintiff’s  

attorney to withdraw the map from the Exhibits without plaintiff’s knowledge or consent and bar  

it from the underlying case trial.  Plaintiff recently received this vital evidence back from  
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defendants after he complained in motions and at the Status Hearing regarding their “theft of  

government documents” from the underlying case and requested professional sanctions be placed  

on Defendant attorneys and criminal prosecution of defendants for violating U.S. Codes by  

stealing the evidence that was a government document submitted for use at trial.  The map is  

certified by a stamp from the Malden Engineering Dept. and dated and signed by city engineer  

Gary Stead as a true and accurate map.  The Map still has the Exhibit seal from Superior Court on  

it..  Also included in Exhibit 2 is a copy of the Superior Court Exhibit List with this Exhibit and a  

detail blow-up from it crossed off the Exhibit List.   Pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. Rule 8(d) the state  

actor defendants who “failed to plead or defend” made an admission that they stole the Map from  

the cout Exhibits with the remaining Defendants. 

 Exhibit 3 of this motion is scan of the City of Malden Drainage System Master map and  

a letter plaintiff recently received from United States Environmental Protection Agency Code  

Enforcement Officer, Todd Borci.  Exhibit 3’s scan of plaintiff’s neighborhood taken from a Map  

that Malden consultants, Fay Spoffard Thorndyke, a  nationally recognized engineering firm  

submitted to the EPA.  The Map depicts NO PIPE (no penciled-in” pipe ) from Hanover Street to  

the state canal.  This map with NO PIPE provides a clear PROXIMAL CAUSE as to why  

Hanover Street’s drainage system backs up, floods and destroys plaintiff’s property – and his  

neighbors.  The Map is consistent with and identical to Exhibit 2, the Map that defendants stole  

from the Exhibits of Superior Court in the underlying case.  Both Maps (Exhibits 2 & 3) depict a  

Proximal Cause of of the continuing floods – no outlet from Hanover the fact that the City of  

Malden has been unable to supply a picture of the pipe being installed or repaired over the last 45  

years.  The Map with NO PIPE is consistent with the fact that Malden was unable to provide  

a dye-test or video recording made by a micro-camera used to inspect pipes DURING 

DISCOVERY in the underlying case to prove the pipe exists.  Exhibit 4’s “newly acquired  

evidence” scan is from a blueprint/map that is identical to a blueprint/map that all defendants  

withdrew from Exhibits that plaintiff submitted to the Middlesex Superior Court, barred from the  

trial and stole from plaintiff without plaintiff’s knowledge or approval.  This Map is “a golden  

thread of evidence” that ties all defendants together in a CONSPIRACY to violate plaintiff’s  

CIVIL RIGHTS.Specifically, plaintiff’s First Amendment right “to petition government for  

redress of grievances with a true and accurate record.  The newly acquired map debunks the  

fraudulent map that Malden submitted to the court – and also to perpetrate a fraud upon  

the EPA for approval of OVERdevelopment of plaintiff’s area of Malden.  This conspiracy  

violated FedR.Civ.P. Rule 37 “failure to make disclosure or cooperate” with the court in the  

underlying case.   
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 Exhibit 4 is the USPS documentation that proves plaintiff provided proper service to  

Malden defendants at the Malden Solicitors Office, the legal representatives for all Malden  

emoloyees.  The U.S. Postal Service documentation should be usd to correct Docket Item #7, that  

is a fraudulent entry that Judge Zobel refused to correct and knowingly used to dismiss plaintiff’s  

case against Malden defendants. 

 

 Exhibit5  is an email to trasnscriptionist Catherine Handel regarding the fact she supplied  

plaintiff with an unsigned copy of the transcript that has been edited to remove the presentation of  

plaintiff’s case onto the record, material evidence and declarations by Judge Zobel that mocked  

the Constitution, rule of law, court rules, the Fed. Rules of Civil Procedure, U.S. Codes, her oath  

of office and the professional oaths of Defendant attorneys. 

  Exhibit 6 is the affidavit of Hanover Street resident, Helen Deranian, a member of the  

Hanover Street Coalition and fellow victim of the floods caused by defendants who along with  

another coalition member, Frank Silva, was present at the Status Hearing of 6.6.07 to support  

plaintiff’s Motion for Injunction to compel Malden to repair the and witnessed Judge Zobel  

repeatedly stifle Plaintiff’s presentation and witnessed her outbursts that mocked the Constitution,  

rule of law, Court Rules, Rules of Civil Procedure, Judicial Canons and her oath of office.  The  

affidavits of four other eyewitnesses are attached to plaintiff’s Motion for Special Relief to Chief  

Judge Wolf. 

 Plaintiff reserves the right to submit more “new evidence” as promised from  

federal officers who have opened investigations into the 30 or so floods that have plagued  

Hanover Street residents – including plaintiff - since 1994.  The latest flood occurred in April of  

this year – a public safety issue - that was allowed to occur by Judge Zobel who denied  

plaintiff’s Motion for Injunction to compel Malden top repair their faulty drainage system in  

violation of her oath “to promote the General Welfare” and denied plaintiff his constitutionally  

protected rights to “protect his property.” 

 

MEMORANDUM OF LAW  

  Exhibit 1 – The Respondents of the Affidavit of Truth were not able to provide the  

notary public with any evidence to refute the statements in the Affidavit of Truth that identify  

they participated in a criminal conspiracy with defendants in U.S. District Court-Boston under  

color of law – to deny plaintiff justice, perpetrate a fraud upon the U.S. Appeals Court and the  

citizens of the United States of America and overthrow the Constitution. Plaintiff requests the  

Court  issue an order to 2) retrieve the criminally altered court record back from the Appeals  
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Court in order to correct the altered court record.  This would prevent the criminal conspiracy to  

which the Respondents have admitted from spreading to U.S., Appeals Court judges AT  

TAXPAYER EXPENSE and prevent further violations of plaintiff’s civil rights and First  

Amendment right to petition government for redress of grievances with a true and accurate  

record. 

  
When Respondents gathered and forwarded the altered court record to the U. S. Appeals 

Court, the Respondents knew: a) that they had criminally altered the court record, and b) that 

Respondents had made admissions of altering the court record via the Affidavit of Truth the 

process of which continued after the Respondents failed to respond in February 2007. 

 

 The Respondents could not provide any evidence to counter the truthful statement in the  

Affidavit of Truth that detail how the Respondents criminally altered the instant case record,  

knowingly forwarded the altered record to the U.S. Appeals Court and knowingly used the U.S.  

Mail to forward the fraudulent case documents.  

 

 Plaintiff submitted a Motion to Stay Appeal to the U.S. Appeals Court informing  

them that the U.S. District Court record in this case was knowingly criminally altered by  

defendants and knowingly forwarded to the U.S. Appeals Court as part of a criminal  

conspiracy with defendants to deny plaintiff civil redress and overthrow the Constitution  

by ending civil redress. An Appeal cannot be achieved based on a criminally altered court record 

 The Appeals Court is meant to correct the “errors” of District Court judges, it is not the 

appropriate place to correct rulings made as part of a criminal conspiracy carried out in U.S.  

District Court under color of law. 

 

 Plaintiff’s instant motion includes pleadings to 1) Retrieve the criminally altered court  

record from the U.S. Court of Appeals to prevent that department of government from also 

being victimized by the criminal acts of defendants, Judge Zobel and the other Respondents of the 

attached Affidavit of Truth; 2) Correct the criminally altered case docket , specifically Entries #7  

& #29 – 31; 3) Order court reporter Catherine Handel to provide a true and accurate transcript to  

plaintiff, 4) enter Default Entries with prejudice against defendants who failed to submit an 

Answer to plaintiff’s complaint, which is required and was due in February 2007, 5) provide 

plaintiff relief from Judge Zobel’s rulings that are based on a criminally altered court docket and 

transcript and 6) Deny all Defendants’ motions to dismiss, and 7) report the defendants to the  

proper authorities for criminal prosecution - as mandated by the Judicial Canons and the judicial  
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oath of office.  In this case, “the proper authorities” would prosecute “crimes against the U.S.  

Government and treason,” as defined by the U.S. Supreme Court rulings including U.S. vs. Will   

as cited below. 

 

1 – MOTION TO RETREIVE THE CRIMINALL ALTERED COURT RECORD FROM 

THE APPEALS COURT  

Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1983, Seventh Amendment right to a jury trial, 42 USC § 

1985 Conspiracy Civil Rights, 13 USC § 241 Obstruction Civil Rights, 18 USC § 1519 

Obstruction Fed Records, 19 USC §371 Conspiracy to Obstruct Justice, 47 USC  §324 

False Documents, 73 USC § 1501 Obstruction Justice, 93 USC § 1901 Public Officers. 

And the “newly acquired evidence attached as Exhibits, plaintiff pleads that the Court 

retrieve the criminally altered court records from the U.S. Court of Appeals and consider 

the following motions. 

2 - MOTION TO CORRECT THE DOCKET 

 Pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. Rule 70 “Books and Records kept by clerks,” Plaintiff 

moves the court 2) order the correction of Docket Item #7, a fraudulent docket entry entered by 

clerk Jay Johnson that Judge Zobel knowingly used to dismiss plaintiff’s case against Malden 

defendants.  The Respondents could provide no documentation whatsoever to the notary public to 

support the docket entry or oppose statements  #18 – 22 of the Affidavit of Truth that address 

Docket Entry #7 and all issues of proper service to defendants.  Statement #22, which is un-

refuted, states “plaintiff provided proper service to all defendants.”  U.S. Mail documentation 

attached as the instant motion Exhibit 4, Exhibits to plaintiff’s Motion to End Corruption and 

Correct Docket and were referenced in plaintiff’s Motion for Special Relief demonstrate that all 

Malden defendants were properly served.  But despite receiving the U.S. Mail documentation that 

proves proper service to Malden defendants, Judge Zobel and Judge Wolf refused to correct the 

docket entry or enter a Default Entry against defendants all of who were properly served. 

 

 Pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. Rule 70 “Books and Records kept by clerks,” plaintiff moves the  

court correct the fraudulent docket entries #29 – 31 as City of Malden defendants did not provide  

plaintiff any motions whatsoever, nor did they submit the required Answer to plaintiff’s  

complaint.  Plaintiff reported this fact to the court in his Motion to End Corruption and Correct  

the Docket and Motion for Special Relief, but neither Judge Zobel nor Judge Wolf would correct  

the docket entry.  The Respondents could provide no evidence to the notary public to prove that  

Malden defendants served plaintiff with any motions, and after being informed by plaintiff’s  
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motions that plaintiff received no motions, Malden defendants did not provide plaintiff with the  

motions.  The certificate of service submitted by Malden defendants to the court is just the latest  

fraudulent document the Malden defendants submitted to courts.  The “state actor” defendants  

have pursuant to the Fed.R.Civ.P “failed to plead or defend” against plaintiff’s complaint and  

have “made an admission” that they allowed Malden defendants to submit fraudulent documents  

to the state courts and conspired with Malden defendants to deprive plaintiff of his  

constitutionally protected rights.  Now, the Respondents have been unable to provide the notary  

public with any evidence to prove docket entries #29 – 31 are fraudulent documents.  

 
3 - MOTION TO ORDER A TRUE AND ACCURATE TRANSCRIPT 

 Pursuant to Fed.R.Cov.P. Rule 9b “Fraud, Malice and Condition of Mind,” and pursuant  

to Fed.R.Civ.P. 37 (b) failure to comply with a court order” and pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. Rule 79  

“Records kept by clerks,” plaintiff moves the court 3) issue an order to have Ms. Catherine  

Handel provide plaintiff and the court with a true and accurate transcript of the Status Hearing of  

6.6.07 to be signed and sent to plaintiff by U.S. Mail.   

 

 Ms. Handel has violated Judge Zobel’s court order to provide plaintiff with a transcript at  

government expense.  Since Ms. Handel was paid by the taxpayer for the transcript, Ms. Handel 

as perpetrated a fraud upon the U.S. Government and the taxpayer.  Ms. Handel’s transcript lists  

Leo P. DeMarco as the attorney for defendant Christopher Fallon.  This is false.  Plaintiff hasn’t  

established a motive for this false information 

 

 The transcript has blatant contextual problems that indicate edit points exactly where  

sections have been removed.  Specifically, important portions of the presentation of plaintiff’s  

case and statements detrimental to the defendants and Judge Zobel.  Also removed are  

declarations Judge Zobel made from the bench that mocked the Constitution, rule of law, her  

judicial oath of office and the attorney professional oath that defendant attorneys took.  .   

 

 Statements #30 – 43 of the notarized Affidavit of Truth contain the same statements that  

eyewitnesses who accompanied plaintiff to the Status Hearing of 6.6.07 documented in their  

affidavits that plaintiff attached to his Motion for Special Relief.  Some of these statements have  

been removed from the transcript. 

 
 Plaintiff had the eyewitnesses attend the hearing as he predicted that Judge Zobel  

would continue the criminal behavior she had demonstrated earlier by altering the docket 

and causing deliberate delays to deny plaintiff justice and overthrow the Constitution by  
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ending civil redress. 

. 
 Plaintiff submitted the affidavits to document Judge Zobel’s un-American declarations  

that mocked the Constitution, rule of law, court rules, her oath of office and the oath of attorneys  

as irrelevant and meaningless.  Plaintiff also submitted the affidavits to perhaps head off the  

criminal alteration of the transcript.  But, Judge Zobel and clerk Handel subsequently criminally  

altered the transcript by removing from the transcript material statements made during the hearing  

including Judge Zobel’s declarations from the bench that mocked the Constitution, rule of law,  

the judicial oath of office and the professional oath of attorneys.  Exhibit 2 of this motion is an  

affidavit of Helen Deranian, a member of the Hanover Street Coalition.  Ms. Deranian also  

attended the Status Hearing and along with the other eyewitnesses attended a meeting after the  

hearing in which plaintiff was videotaped quoting Judge Zobel’s declarations that mocked the  

Constitution, rule of law etc. for all eyewitnesses to witness and approve.  The quotes have been  

taken out of the transcript by clerk Handel but will remain in the documentary video as fact.   

 

 The Respondents could provide no evidence to counter the statements made in the  

affidavits of eyewitnesses that has subsequently been illegally removed from the transcript of the  

Status Hearing by Ms., Handel.  Ms. Handel provided a fraudulent transcript to plaintiff by email 

that was unsigned.  Plaintiff forwarded to Ms. Handel an email, Exhibit 3, informing her that 

portions of the transcript were removed and requesting the material be placed back into the  

transcript, and forward a signed copy to plaintiff by U.S. Mail.   Ms. Handel has refused to do  

so.  This leaves plaintiff with no authorized transcript to exercise his First Amendment right to  

petition government for redress of grievances. 

 

  The Respondents could provide no evidence to the notary public to counter statements  

#30 – 43 of the Affidavit of Truth that duplicate the statements contained in the affidavits of the  

eyewitnesses that document statements that are now missing from the Ms. Handel’s transcript.   

These affidavits were attached to plaintiff’s Motion for Special and Helen Deranian’s affidavit is  

attached to this motion. 

 
4 - MOTION FOR DEFAULT ENTRY WITH PREJUDICE  

Pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P Rule 55 “Default,” plaintiff moves the judge order the  

correction of the court record by entering a Default Entry or Judgments with prejudice against the 

defendants who failed to submit an Answer to plaintiff’s Complaint that is required and was due 

in February 2007.  These defendants are: Richard Howard, Jack Kelly, Jack Russell, Gary Stead, 

Edward Wheeler, Stephen Wishoski Leo P. DeMarco II, Herman Smith, Christopher Fallon the 
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Mass. Appeals Court and the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.  The Default Entry should be 

entered with prejudice to bring to an end the conspiracy of the defendants and Respondents to 

manipulate the court record, violate plaintiff’s civil rights and overthrow the Constitution by 

ending civil redress. 

 

5 -  MOTION FOR RELIEF FROM JUDGMENT & DENY DEFENDA NTS MOTIONS 

TO DISMISS 

Plaintiff seeks relief from all of Judge Zobel’s rulings pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. 

Rule 12(b)(6) "the court must accept all well-pleaded facts as true and draw all 

reasonable inferences in favor of the plaintiff," Jackson v. Board of Education, 544 U.S. 

167, 170-171(2005).  Pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P Rule 37 “Failure to make disclosure or comply,” 

reverse all dismissals of plaintiff’s motions as one of the defendants or Respondents have been 

able to provide any evidence that the Directed Verdict ruling in the underlying case was based 

upon – NOT ONE PIECE OF MATERIAL EVIDENCE AS NONE WAS PRESENTED AT 

TRIAL – or, that plaintiff could not possibly prevail at trial or in Directed Verdict or Summary 

Judgments.  Specifically, Respondents could provide no evidence to prove that Judge Zobel’s 

rulings not violate plaintiff’s right “to protect [his] property” pursuant to Amendments IV, V and 

XIV of the U.S. Constitution and Articles I, VII, X, XI, XII, XXIX of the Massachusetts 

Constitution as truthfully stated in Affidavit of Truth statement #81.   

 

Respondents provided no evidence to COUNTER that Judge Zobel’s rulings were made 

as part of a criminal conspiracy by defendants and Respondents.  Furthermore, pursuant to 

Fed.R.Civ.P. Rule 8(d), “state actor” defendants, Christopher Fallon, Herman Smith, Mass. 

Appeals Court and the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, “made an admission” to the allegations 

in plaintiff’s complaint, including participating in a criminal conspiracy with the other defendants 

in state courtrooms.  And, Respondents failed to provide the notary public with any evidence to 

refute the true statements in the Affidavit of Truth that truthfully identify that all defendants 

conspired with Respondents to violate plaintiff’s civil rights, carry out a criminal conspiracy in 

state courtrooms, alter the court records and/or perpetrate a fraud upon the court in the instant 

case 

 

 Respondents could not provide any evidence to the notary public to disprove the 

truthful statement in the Affidavit of Truth statement #87 cites “Conley vs. Gibson” U.S.  

41, 45-46.  Pursuant to this citation plaintiff requests the reversal of Judge Zobel’s rulings. 
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 Plaintiff seeks relief from all of Judge Zobel’s rulings based on “failure to state a claim 

upon which relief can be granted pursuant to Conley v. Gibson U.S. 41, 45-46. "A 

complaint will not be dismissed for failure to state a claim unless it appears beyond 

doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of his claim which would 

entitle him to relief," and plaintiff seeks relief pursuant to all the EXHIBITS plaintiff 

has attached to his pleading to Judge Zobel and the US District Court. 

 

6 – MOTION TO DENY ALL DEFENDANTS MOTIONS TO DISMIS S 
Plaintiff seeks relief from all of Judge Zobel’s rulings based on “failure to state a claim 

upon which relief can be granted pursuant to Conley v. Gibson U.S. 41, 45-46. "A complaint will 

not be dismissed for failure to state a claim unless it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff 

can prove no set of facts in support of his claim which would entitle him to relief," and 

plaintiff seeks relief pursuant to all the EXHIBITS plaintiff has attached to his pleading to the US 

District Court and Judge Zobel. 

 

Plaintiff seeks relief from all Judge Zobel’s rulings to dismiss plaintiff’s complaint 

against defendants pursuant to 42 USCS §1983, and American Mfrs. Mutual Ins. Co. v. Sullivan, 

524 US 40 (1999), the EXHIBITS plaintiff submitted with his motions established that (1) he was 

deprived of a right secured by the Constitution or Laws of the United States; and (2) the alleged 

deprivation was committed under the color of state law," 

 

Plaintiff seeks relief from Judge Zobel’s ruling to dismiss plaintiff’s actions against 

defendant’s Mass. Appeals Court and Commonwealth of Massachusetts pursuant to the 

Articles of the Mass. Constitution and applicable Amendments to the Constitution that state 

that  “Every member of government is responsible to the people at all times” and pursuant to 

the civil Rights Act stating that states “All offenders will be brought before a federal 

judge,” (emphasis added) and pursuant to “good faith immunity” is not appli cable when 

“state actors” commit criminal acts to deprive plaintiff of civil rights by illegally altering the 

public record.  If” the Commonwealth of Massachusetts is an entity that can prosecute citizens, 

then the Commonwealth of Massachusetts is an entity against which actions can be brought.” 

(Emphasis added). 

Plaintiff seeks relief from Judge Zobel’s ruling to dismiss plaintiff’s complaint against defendant 

Smith pursuant to Civ.R. 60(b)(4).  Judge Zobel’s ruling regarding Smith is void, as the judge 

does not have the discretion or jurisdiction to apply Judicial Immunity to a judge that committed 
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“Crimes against the U.S. Government” as defined by the Supreme Court in the decisions stated in 

plaintiff Memorandum of Law.   

Plaintiff seeks relief from Judge Zobel’s ruling to dismiss plaintiff’s case against 

state Judge Smith pursuant to The United States v. Classic, 313 U.S.299, 326 (1941), the U.S. 

Supreme Court held that a person acts under color of law only when exercising power “possessed 

by virtue of state law and made possible only because the wrongdoer is clothed with the authority 

of state law.”  Judge Zobel is aware that defendant Smith had the trial transcript of the underlying 

case illegally altered to remove material evidence befitting plaintiff and detrimental to 

defendants.   

Plaintiff seeks relief from Judge Zobel’s ruling to dismiss plaintiff’s action against 

defendant Smith pursuant to Slotnick v. Staviskey, 560 F2nd 31, 33 (1st Cir. 1977) ”allegations 

of conspiracy must be supported by references to specific facts.”  The specific facts were 

documented in plaintiff’s affidavit that was suppressed by Judge Zobel. 

 

Plaintiff seeks relief from Judge Zobel’s fraudulent claims in Section II E (1) & (2) of the 

Memorandum of Decision.  Plaintiff seeks relief from Judge Zobel and clerk Lisa Urso 

manipulation of the court record and suppression of plaintiff’s affidavit (Affidavit of Edward 

“Zed” McLarnon Regarding Illegal Alterations to Trial Transcript) pursuant to Judicial Canons 

and rule of law that state it is outside the jurisdiction of a judge to suppress material evidence that 

proves plaintiff’s civil rights were violated by a “state actor” or a “federal actor” who committed 

“crimes against the U.S. Government” when they illegally altered the public record. 

 

Plaintiff seeks relief from Judge Zobel’s ruling on page 10 Section II E (1) of the 

Memorandum of Decision ruling plaintiff must service defendants again based on the fact that the 

docket and case file have been manipulated to reflect plaintiff did not make proper service when 

plaintiff has already provided the documents in EXHIBIT 4 of this memorandum to the court as 

proof that he had, in fact, provided proper service.  Plaintiff also seeks relief from Judge Zobel’s 

ruling pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. 60 regarding “clerical errors, fraud, etc.” 

 

This memorandum and motions will construe Count IV to be a state court claim for malpractice 

under supplement al jurisdiction. 28 U.S.C. §1367.  Judicial Council’s Reform and Judicial 

Conduct and Disability Act of 1980 (28 U.S.C. §§ 332(d)(1), 372(c), 
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Defendant Water Works claim under Fed. R. Civ.P. 12(b)(6) that plaintiff failed to state a claim 

upon which relief can be granted is a fallacious claim.  Plaintiff stated a claim of a § 1983 civil 

rights violation with pendant state issues of fraud upon the court and nuisance and neglect.   

 

 Plaintiff seeks relief from Judge Zobel’s sua sponte: rulings to dismiss plaintiff’s case 

against all state-actor defendants as there was “no issue in dispute” as the state actors and the 

state Attorney General’s Office pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. Rule 8(d) “made and admission” to the 

allegations in plaintiff’s complaint by “failing to plead or defend” against plaintiff’s complaint.  

Judge Zobel violated Court Rules and Judicial Canons by “acting as a lawyer” for the state-actor 

defendants and “created” a defense for the defendants who already made admissions of their 

guilt.   

 

VII – REPORT DEFENDANT’S CRIMES “TO THE PROPER AUTH ORITIES” 

 The U.S. Supreme Court has repeatedly ruled that “judges who act without jurisdiction  

commit crimes against the U.S. Government and treason,” US v. Will  449 U.S. 200, 216, 101  

St.Ct.471, 66l.Ed.2d 392, 406(1980); Cohens v. Virginia 19 U.S.(6Wheat) 264, 404, 

5L.Ed.257(1821).  The Supreme Court has held that any judge who acts without jurisdiction is  

engaged in an act of treason.  Cooper v. Aaron, 358 U.S. 1, 78 S.Ct.1401(1958) “Engaging in an 

act of treason against the United States Constitution by ANY CITIZEN OF THE UNITED  

STATES is an act of war against the Unites States.” (Emphasis added) by the defendants who  

criminally conspired with Respondents who are BONDED.  Plaintiff requests the cases be  

referred to the U.S. Military to face charges of Treason. 

 
 

MOTION:  

For the reasons and citations listed above, plaintiff requests:  

1) Retrieve the court records from the U.S. Court of Appeals to prevent the criminally altered 

court record from  

2) Pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. Rule 59 “New trial – amendment of judgment,” re-open case after 

taking into account the “new found evidence,” specifically the truthful statements in the 

Affidavit of Truth, Exhibit 1, re-open the case in District Court and correct the record, and  

       Pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. Rule 70 “Books and Records kept by clerks,” correct the fraudulent  

       entries of the case docket made by clerk Jay Johnson and City of Malden defendants,  

3) Order a Corrected transcript  – Pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. 37 (b) failure to comply with a court 

order” issue an order for a signed and “true and accurate” transcript that Ms. Catherine 

Handel has refused to provide to plaintiff or the court. 
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4) Enter a Default Entry pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P Rule 55 “Default” with prejudice against 

defendants who did not submit   the required Answer to plaintiff’s complaint which were due 

in January and February 2007 depending on the status of the defendants, 

5) Pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P Rule 60 “Relief from Judgment” reverse all of Judge Zobel’s rulings 

and/or deny defendants motions - as “admissions” have been made by “state actor” 

defendants and Respondents that Judge Zobel’s rulings are devoid of any constitutional 

delegation of authority, do not reflect the facts of the case and are solely based on a criminal 

conspiracy by defendants and the Respondents in the instant case under color of law. 

6)  

7) Pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P Rule 37 “Failure to make disclosure or comply,” and Judicial 

Canons, report the crimes of defendants and Respondents “to the proper authorities” for 

prosecution pursuant to the U.S. Supreme Court citations listed above on section VII. And 

violations of USC § 1985 Conspiracy Civil Rights and 93 USC § 1909 Obstruction by Public 

Officers. 

 

Submitted June 27, 2008 by   

 
 
Edward S McLarnon 
Pro se litigant 
49 Hanover Street  
Malden, MA 02148  
781 324 1989 

 

· SEE EXHIBITS B & C FOR AUTHENTIC MAPS  

· EXHIBIT I – FOR DISCREDITED MAP WITH ‘PENCILED-IN P IPE’ 

FROM HANOVER STREET TO THE STATE CANAL  
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EXHIBIT S 

Letters to Court 

 

-  Letter from Hanover Street Coalition  to First Circuit Chief Judge Wente 

To allow Motion for Injunction 

 

-  Letter from McLarnon to Judge Wente 

Now defendants have defaulted, move case along 
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The Hanover Street Coalition 
49 Hanover Street Malden, MA 02148�

 
July 30, 2008  
 
Gary Wente, First Circuit Chief Administrative Judge 
U.S. District Court  
One Courthouse Way 
Boston, MA 02210  
 
Dear Judge Wente, 
 

We are writing to inquire why in the case of “McLarnon vs. Smith” Case # 06 CA 11815 
RWZ U.S. District Court judges under your supervision have refused to order a repair of Malden’s 
drainage system to end the 30 or more floods that have plagued us since 1994, the last of which 
occurred last Thursday July 24, 2008.  We are not in a flood zone. 
 

A Motion for Injunction was re-submitted on June 27, 2008 requesting a court order for 
the City of Malden to repair our drainage system and make it function as depicted in the 
blueprint/map Malden submitted in the underlying case.  Why have your judges and court 
personnel diverted the focus of this litigation from relief from the continuing floods to an agenda of 
altering court records to thwart justice? 
 

Our coalition is comprised of every homeowner on Hanover Street.  All are united as 
victims of fourteen years of floods.  Mr. Edward “Zed” McLarnon is one of two coordinators for our 
coalition.  We are familiar with the letters our co- ordinators wrote to city, state and federal 
agencies and elected officials pleading for help to end the floods.  We are also familiar with the 
motions submitted by Mr. McLarnon in U.S. District Court and previously in Superior Court. 
 

Two of our coalition members accompanied Mr. McLarnon to a hearing in U.S. District 
Court on June 6, 2007, two days after our street was inundated after only a 15-minute rainstorm.  
What they witnessed in your court is shocking and an abomination of justice.  Mr. McLarnon was 
continually interrupted while trying to present evidence.  In stark contrast, the judge prompted the 
defendants’ attorneys and allowed them to repeatedly lie to the court.  Judge Zobel refused to 
allow Mr. McLarnon to refer to Coalition letters to city, state and federal agencies and elected 
officials that were accepted as court exhibits in the underlying case.  And, our members sat in 
shock when Judge Zobel declared there was “no public safety issue” before her.  We consider 
her arrogance a slap in our faces.   
 

FEMA checks were submitted to prove medical injuries were suffered as a result of 
fighting floods.  The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency and the Mass. Department of 
Environmental Protection have identified floods as a public safety issue and a public health issue.  
Yet, your judges allow these floods to continue.  Why?  
 

Mr. Santangelo, the other coordinator of our coalition, testified at the 2004 trial about his 
first-hand knowledge that the City of Malden and Water Works Supply Corporation caused the 
floods.  His testimony is attached to the Motion for Injunction.  No one countered Mr. 
Santangelo’s testimony, the testimony of Mr. McLarnon, expert witness Russell Geisser and city 
engineers Jack Kelly and Jack Russell who all testified that the source of the flooding is the city’s 
drainage system.  Yet, your judges have not issued an order for the city to repair its drainage 
system.  Why? 
 

Why are U.S. District Court records being altered to allow the floods that are a public 
safety issue to continue to plague us?  Mr. McLarnon has presented ample evidence to your 
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judges, the Judicial Misconduct Committee and you to prove criminal activity in your District 
Court.  Yet, Mr. McLarnon has demonstrated to us that nothing has been done to correct the 
court record and nothing has been done to punish those who committed the criminal acts.  Why? 
 

Expert witness engineer, Russell Geisser, concluded that the floods are caused by over-
development and a neglected drainage system that has been more and more overburdened since 
1960.  Mr. Geisser and the Malden’s own consultants, Fay, Spoffard & Thorndyke, concluded 
Hanover Street has a 6-month to 2-year flood expectancy.  The minimum code is 25 years!  Why 
hasn’t your judges ordered Malden to repair the drainage system to meet minimum drainage 
system codes? 
 

Judge Zobel has allowed three floods to destroy our property in the last year and a half.  
Our question is this, why hasn’t the Motion for Injunction, which is supported by the testimony and 
reports of several expert engineers been allowed?  
 

Sincerely, 
The Hanover Street Coalition 
Signatures attached. 
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